THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Gene McCaskill, Commissioner
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Melody L. James, Commissioner

Appellate Case Number : 2012-212972
W.C.C. File No. 0905086

Alison Morrett,

Employee, Claimant/Appellant.

v.

Capital City Ambulance of GA, Ltd. and
Companion Property and Casualty Group,

Employer, Carrier/Respondents,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Bradley Baker, Esq.
403 East Main Street, Suite E
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 356-2800 - Office
(803) 358-9402 - Facsimile
Jbb@jbradleybakerlaw.com
Attorney for Appellant

December 23, 2013

RECEIVED

JAN 06 2014

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW IN THEIR FINDING OF FACT 8 AND CONCLUSION OF LAW 9 WHEN THEY HELD THAT THE CLAIMANT DID NOT MEET HER BURDEN OF PROVING AN AGGRAVATION OF HER PREEXISTING PSYCHOLOGICAL CONDITION AND EATING DISORDER AS REQUIRED BY SOUTH CAROLINA CODE § 42-1-160 and § 42-9-35?(FINDING OF FACT 8, 14 AND CONCLUSION OF LAW 7 AND 8)
2. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW WHEN THEY CHOSE TO IGNORE ALL EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE COMPENSABILITY OF THE PSYCHOLOGICAL AND EATING DISORDER AND HELD THAT THE DECISION OF DR. LIND SHOULD BE GIVEN GREATER WEIGHT THAN THE OPINIONS OF DR. PIASECKI AND COUNSELOR HOBBS? (FINDINGS OF FACT 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16 AND CONCLUSION OF LAW 8).
3. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW WHEN THEY MISQUOTED THE RECORD AND STATED THAT DR. PIASECKI DID NOT CONSIDER THE CLAIMANT'S PREEXISTING CONDITION WHEN RENDERING HIS OPINIONS? (FINDING OF FACT 15).
4. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW IN CONSIDERING A MEDICAL SUMMARY HANDED UP BY THE DEFENSE AT ORAL ARGUMENT OVER THE OBJECTION OF THE CLAIMANT AS IT WAS NOT A PIECE OF EVIDENCE AND WAS NOT SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT?
5. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW IN FAILING TO ADDRESS THE CREDIBILITY OF THE CLAIMANT AS THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER HELD THAT THE CLAIMANT TESTIFIED ACCURATELY AND IN LINE WITH THE MEDICAL AND COUNSELING RECORDS IN THE CASE WITHIN HIS FINDING OF FACT 9 YET THE FULL COMMISSION DID NOT REVERSE THIS FINDING AND DID NOT ADDRESS THE ISSUE?
6. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW IN CONCLUDING WITHIN THE ORDER PORTION OF THE FULL COMMISSION ORDER THAT THE CLAIM FOR AGGRAVATION OF A PRE-EXISTING PSYCHOLOGICAL CONDITION AND EATING DISORDER SHOULD BE DENIED IN ITS ENTIRETY TO INCLUDE DENIAL OF MEDICAL TREATMENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Claimant sought benefits under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act based upon an admitted accident which occurred on May 11, 2009. At the hearing before the Single Commissioner the parties agreed that the Claimant had suffered a compensable injury to her right lower extremity. It was the position of the Claimant that the admitted compensable physical injury coupled with six (6) surgeries, the recovery from those surgeries and pain associated with each surgery had aggravated her pre-existing psychological condition as well as her pre-existing eating disorder. Claimant was seeking treatment for the psychological and eating disorder. Defendants denied that the Claimant's conditions had been aggravated. A hearing was held before Commissioner Derrick Williams on February 6, 2012. After the hearing the Commissioner issued an order finding Claimant's psychological condition and eating disorder were aggravated by her work accident and subsequent treatment and awarded temporary total payments and causally related medical care. The Single Commissioner also held that the Claimant testified accurately and in line with the medical and counseling records in this case. Finding of Fact 9 of the Single Commissioner. (R. p. 26).

The Defendants appealed the decision of the Single Commissioner. The Full Commission heard oral arguments on the issue of the compensability of the Claimant's aggravation of her psychological and eating disorder. The Full Commission reversed the Single Commissioner's findings and holdings in which he found that the Claimant's aggravation of her psychological and eating disorder were compensable. On September 20, 2012 Alison Morrett filed and served her notice of appeal upon Counsel for the Employer/Carrier.

FACTS

The Claimant was involved in an admitted injury to her right knee on May 11, 2009. At the time of the hearing before the Single Commissioner the Claimant had undergone six (6) surgeries to repair her injured knee, the most recent surgery being conducted on January 23, 2012. Claimant's APAs 3, 4, 5 and 8 contained the records surrounding the six (6) surgeries which had been performed on the Claimant's right lower extremity. The records surrounding the treatment of the Claimant's knee can be found in the Record at pages 355 to 485. (See Operative Notes at R. pp. 356, 380, 409, 458 and Appendix pp. 4 and 8). Because of the complexity of Ms. Morrett's case many of her surgeries have required that she be admitted to the hospital following her surgeries.

By way of history, the Claimant has suffered from an eating disorder since she was approximately 14 years of age. In the year 2000 at the age of 18, the Claimant was diagnosed with major depression, anorexia, bulimia, and borderline personality disorder. The Claimant has been receiving on and off treatment for her diagnoses of major depression, anorexia, bulimia and borderline personality disorder since early 2000. During her ongoing treatment the Claimant has been admitted into psychiatric care, voluntary and involuntary, between ten and fifteen times.

Following the fifth authorized knee surgery it began to appear in the medical records that the Claimant was struggling psychologically. The Claim for the aggravation of the pre-existing psychological issues and eating disorder was filed on November 15, 2011. At that time and currently the Claimant's authorized treating physician was Dana Piasecki, M.D. Dr. Piasecki noted in his office visit of October 20, 2011 (R. pp. 471-472) that "a long discussion is had today with Alison, her family and the case manager regarding some issues with self-induced vomiting on a regular basis given concerns over her weight as well as relative depression which appears to be limiting her energy level with respect to doing therapy on her own". Dr Piasecki then goes on to state "I have discussed

with Alison at some length today that these issues are not terribly surprising given her long surgical history and the prolonged rehab and recovery which is necessary from her current staged operative approach. I do believe that her psychological state is work related given the multiple surgeries which have been involved here and I would recommend that she see a nutritionist as well as get back on an antidepressant which she has previously been prescribed. She should have follow up for this with a psychiatrist in my opinion". (R. p. 472).

Dr. Piasecki confirmed his opinion in a questionnaire dated November 30, 2011 which was introduced as Claimant's APA 148 (R. p. 481). Within the questionnaire, Dr. Piasecki confirms that the opinions expressed in his medical note of October 20, 2011 are his opinions to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. Further, in his deposition of January 26, 2012, Dr. Piasecki (referred to incorrectly as Tiasecki by the court reporter) reaffirms his opinions.

During his deposition Dr. Piasecki was confronted with the report of Psychologist Lind and the extensive prior treatment and trauma that the Claimant has endured. Dr. Piasecki stated that "I would say that the stress of undergoing as many surgeries as she has, has increased the likelihood of her having worsening depression and eating disorders more than 50 percent..." (R. p. 150, lines 18 - 21). At pages 16 and 17 (R. pp. 157-158) of his deposition Dr. Piasecki opines that the decline in Ms. Morrett's psychological state is causatively related/connected to the physical injury of May 11, 2009 and the subsequent treatment and surgeries that followed. He also opined that the aggravation of Ms. Morrett's eating disorder is causatively related or connected to her physical injury of May 11, 2009 and the treatment and surgeries that followed. At pages 16 and 17 (R. pp. 157-158) of his deposition, Dr. Piasecki also opines that Ms. Morrett's need for treatment for her psychological decline and exacerbation of her eating disorder is related or connected to her physical injury and subsequent surgeries.

At his deposition, Dr. Piasecki was asked about what type of treatment Ms. Morrett might require. (R. p. 159, lines 5-10). Dr. Piasecki states: “Whether or not she needed inpatient treatment at the time of the injury, I think is immaterial because what I think she has is a relative worsening of whatever she had then. So there may be a certain threshold above which a psychiatrist or a psychological or a counselor would recommend inpatient treatment. And beyond that, patients could have any of a number of degrees of severity of psychiatric problems. If she was at the threshold of needed admission at that point, the fact that she’s worse now and still needs that, does not necessarily negate that she’s had a worsening as a result of this whole process.” Dr. Piasecki is then asked “So are you saying even if she needed treatment at the time, the treatment she needs now is more than the treatment she needed at the time? Dr. Piasecki answered “Yes”. (R. p. 159, line 18-p. 160, line 9).

Marjorie Hobbs, MA, LPC is a licensed professional counselor who has the unique perspective of having treated the Claimant both before and after the accident. Ms. Hobbs has been treating the Claimant since 2004 and is well aware of the Claimant’s history. Ms. Hobbs testified that in her opinion the physical injury coupled with the six surgeries, the inability to work, the pain, the isolation, the financial stress and the fear of never regaining full use of her leg has exacerbated Ms. Morrett’s psychological condition. Ms. Hobbs also opined that the physical injury coupled with the six surgeries, the inability to work, the pain as well as fear of the unknown has exacerbated Ms. Morrett’s eating disorder (R. p. 120, line 1 - p. 122, line 11).

Nicholas A. Lind, PsyD of Post Trauma Resources conducted one evaluation of the Claimant at the request of the Defendants on January 11, 2012. Dr. Lind diagnosed the Claimant with Bulimia Nervosa and opined that this diagnoses is directly related to her military service. (R. p. 1341). Dr. Lind further opines that the Claimant’s inability to complete an intensive outpatient program at the

Ridgeview Institute due to a medical emergency of a collapsed lung contributes to her ongoing eating behaviors (R. p. 1341). Dr. Lind opines that it is the failure of finishing her treatment and not the work related injury that occurred approximately three months later, that contributes to her ongoing eating behaviors (R. p. 1341).

The testimony of the Claimant was that she completed the program at Ridgeview. (R. p. 179, line 12 - p. 180, line 22) (R. p. 202, lines 19 - 25). Although she had some health problems on February 10, 2009 she returned to Ridgeview. (R. pp. 970- 971). Her return to Ridgeview is noted within Defendants' APA 1300 (R. p. 1290) which is the admission note for her collapsed Lung and it indicates that she is being admitted on February 17, 2009 to Wellstar from a local psychiatric hospital where she is being treated for bullimia. The note states "The patient was due to be discharged" when referring to the local psychiatric hospital. (R. p. 1290). Defendants' APAs 2, 4, 5, 6, 9, 10 and 12 contain records related to the Claimant's extensive pre-injury treatment for her psychological issues as well as her eating disorder. The records include many of the hospitalizations the Claimant endured prior to her injury. (R. pp. 518 - 1304)

ARGUMENTS

1. THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW IN THEIR FINDING OF FACT 8 AND CONCLUSION OF LAW 9 WHEN THEY HELD THAT THE CLAIMANT DID NOT MEET HER BURDEN OF PROVING AN AGGRAVATION OF HER PREEXISTING PSYCHOLOGICAL CONDITION AND EATING DISORDER AS REQUIRED BY SOUTH CAROLINA CODE § 42-1-160 and § 42-9-35.(FINDING OF FACT 8, 14 AND CONCLUSION OF LAW 7 AND 8)

Under South Carolina Code Ann. § 42-1-160(D) (1976) stress, mental injuries, and mental illness alleged to have been aggravated by a work-related physical injury may not be found compensable unless the aggravation is:

- (1) admitted by the employer/carrier;

- (2) noted in a medical record of an authorized physician that, in the physician's opinion, the condition is at least in part casually-related or connected to the injury or accident, whether or not the physician refers the employee for treatment of the condition;
- (3) found to be casually-related or connected to the accident or injury after evaluation by an authorized psychologist or psychiatrist; or
- (4) noted in a medical record or report of the employee's physician as casually-related or connected to the injury or accident.

The opinions of Dr. Piasecki clearly satisfy § 42-1-160(D) (2) and (4). As noted above Dr. Piasecki is the Claimant's current authorized treating physician. Dr. Piasecki noted in his office visit of October 20, 2011 (R. pp. 471 - 472) that he believed that her psychological state is work related given the multiple surgeries which have been involved here and he recommend that she see a nutritionist and follow up with a psychiatrist (R. p. 472) .

Dr. Piasecki has confirmed his opinion is to a reasonable degree of medical certainty in a questionnaire dated November 30, 2011 which was introduced as Claimant's APA 148 (R. p. 481). Further, in his deposition of January 26, 2012, Dr. Piasecki (referred to incorrectly as Tiasecki by the court reporter) reaffirms his opinions that the injury coupled with the extensive treatment has aggravated the Claimant's pre-existing psychological and eating disorder. (R. p. 150, lines 14 - 21). At pages 16 and 17 of his deposition (R. pp. 157 - 158) Dr. Piasecki opines that the decline in Ms. Morrett's psychological state is causatively related/connected to the physical injury of May 11, 2009. At pages 16 and 17 of his deposition, Dr. Piasecki also opines that Ms. Morrett's need for treatment for her psychological decline and exacerbation of eating disorder is related or connected to her physical injury and subsequent surgeries. (R. pp. 157 - 158).

Dr. Piasecki is a board certified orthopedic surgeon (R. p. 146, lines 20 - 21). He attended undergraduate training at Harvard University and obtained his medical degree from Vanderbilt University (R. p. 146, lines 11 - 19). He specializes in difficult cases such as Ms. Morrett's and has

first hand experience in dealing with patients who have had multiple surgeries and he emphasized the stress that one undergoes after multiple surgeries and states that the development of psychological issues is not unusual (R. p. 146, lines 05 - 08) and (R. p. 150, lines 03 - 13). Dr. Piasecki testified that “I don’t know that I would say that the knee condition that she has, which resulted from her work related injury, has caused her psychological condition. I think the process of going through as many surgeries as she has, and the recovery from those surgeries, has aggravated it. And that comes from experience treating patients who have had multiple knee surgeries, which are very complex and require inpatient stays, extended periods of time without weight bearing, and limited control of their lives. In my experience, depression, and particularly in female patients, eating disorders is very common. (R. p. 152, lines 13 - 25). Dr. Piasecki further testified that “But common sense would argue that the stress of undergoing these surgeries is immense. (R. p. 153, line 25 - p. 154, line 1).

The medical notes, questionnaire and deposition testimony have clearly satisfied the Claimant’s burden that is set out in S. C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 (D) (2) as the aggravation is “noted in a medical record of an authorized physician that, in the physician’s opinion, the condition is at least in part casually-related or connected to the injury or accident...” and the records, questionnaire and opinions of Dr. Piasecki clearly satisfy § 42-1-160 (D) (4) which is “noted in a medical record or report of the employee’s physician as casually-related or connected to the injury or accident.” The testimony of Counselor Hobbs bolsters the opinion of Dr. Piasecki.

The Claimant has also satisfied South Carolina Code Ann. § 42-9-35 (1976) in that the Claimant has produced significant medical evidence that the injury of 2009 and the extensive

treatment that has followed has aggravated the Claimant's pre-existing eating disorder and psychological issues. The testimony of Piasecki and the testimony of Counselor Hobbs satisfy the burden established by South Carolina Code § 42-9-35.

South Carolina Code § 42-9-35 states in part:

(A) The employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that:

(1) the subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment; or

(2) the preexisting condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury...

(C) As used in this section, "medical evidence" means expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, documents, records, or other material that is offered by a licensed health care provider....

The Claimant has clearly met her burden of proving an aggravation of her psychological condition and her eating disorder. The testimony of Dr. Piasecki as well as the testimony of Counselor Hobbs satisfies the burden created by South Carolina Code § 42-9-35.

The legislator has set the burden of proof that is required of a Claimant to prove a mental injury. The burden is stated within South Carolina Code § 42-1-160(D). The Claimant has met the burden. The legislator has also established that medical evidence is required to prove an aggravation of a preexisting injury or condition pursuant to South Carolina Code § 42-9-35. The Claimant has also met the burden of proof required by South Carolina Code § 42-9-35. For the Full Commission to find that the Claimant failed to meet her burden of proof is a misapplication of the law and amounts to an error of law and an unwarranted exercise of discretion. Furthermore, Finding of Fact 8 and conclusion 9 are clearly erroneous based on the reliable, probative and substantial evidence within the entire record. There is no evidence to support the Full Commission's Finding and

Conclusion in which they state that the Claimant failed to meet her burden of proof. For this reason the decision of the Full Commission should be reversed. The decision of the Single Commissioner should be reinstated and the Claimant's aggravation of her psychological issues and eating disorder should be deemed compensable and the Defendants should be ordered to provide treatment for the aggravation of the Claimant's psychological issues and eating disorder.

2. THE FULL COMMISSIONER ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW WHEN THEY CHOSE TO IGNORE ALL EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE COMPENSABILITY OF THE PSYCHOLOGICAL AND EATING DISORDER AND HELD THAT THE DECISION OF DR. LIND SHOULD BE GIVEN GREATER WEIGHT THAN THE OPINIONS OF DR. PIASECKI AND COUNSELOR HOBBS. (FINDINGS OF FACT 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16 AND CONCLUSION OF LAW 8).

The decision of the Full Commission is not supported by the substantial evidence in the record. In fact the only evidence that supports the decision of the Full Commission is the report of Dr. Lind. The reliance on the opinion of Dr. Lind is misplaced for many reasons. There are many obvious flaws with the report of Dr. Lind and his conclusions are based on assumptions that are incorrect and simply wrong.

The report of Dr. Lind confirms he was hired by the Defense and only met with the Claimant one time for 60 minutes. (R. p. 1335). Dr. Lind's report also contains inaccuracies about the Claimant, the medical records involved and the medical treatment received by the Claimant. At Defendant's APA 16 (R. p. 1336) Dr. Lind indicates that the Claimant lives in Manning. (R. p. 1336). The Claimant has never lived in Manning. Dr. Lind also indicates the records he supposedly reviewed. (R. p. 1336). Dr. Lind indicates that he reviewed records from SouthEastern Spine Institute, Manning Medicine, Easter Cooper Regional Medical Center, Physical Rehabilitation Group, Clarendon Memorial Hospital, Lowcountry Urology Clinics, Fifi Jubran, MA, Rehabilitation

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