THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION
COMMISSION APPELLATE PANEL

Appellate Case No. 2012-212972

W.C.C. File No. 0905068

Alison Morrett, Employee, Claimant,.....Appellant,

v.

Capital City Ambulance of GA, Ltd., and
Companion Property and Casualty Group, Employer, Carrier, Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Michael E. Chase (Bar No. 15230)
Carmelo B. Sammataro (Bar No. 69746)
TURNER PADGET GRAHAM & LANEY P.A.
Post Office Box 1473
Columbia, SC 29202
Phone: (803) 254-2200
Fax: (803) 799-3957

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

RECEIVED

JAN 07 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

Morrett's underlying workers' compensation claim for injury to her right knee remains pending before the Commission; therefore, this appeal is interlocutory and should not be considered until a final judgment disposing of all issues has been rendered. The only issues addressed by the single commissioner and the appellate panel of the Full Commission were Morrett's compensable knee injury and whether she suffered an aggravation of previously existing psychological and eating disorders. The Commission has yet to address, among other things, whether Morrett has reached maximum medical improvement or whether she is entitled to any permanent disability impairment rating and compensation benefits, and it has specifically held "all other issues" in abeyance pending a determination of maximum medical improvement. In addition, as Respondents are now required to provide causally related medical treatment, it is likely that issues regarding authorized treatment may arise. As the orders regarding continuing treatment for the admitted right knee injury (and denying additional benefits for psychological overlay) are interlocutory and do not constitute a final adjudication of all issues in this case, the appeal should be dismissed.

I. THE AUGUST 28, 2012 DECISION AND ORDER OF THE FULL COMMISSION IS AN INTERLOCUTORY ORDER THAT IS NOT SUBJECT TO IMMEDIATE APPELLATE REVIEW; THEREFORE, THIS APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED PENDING THE COMMISSION'S FINAL ORDER AS TO ALL ISSUES.

South Carolina and the Workers' Compensation Commission "adhere to the final judgment rule. Accordingly, subject to certain exceptions, an appeal lies only from a final judgment." *Brunson v. American Koyo Bearings*, 367 S.C. 161, 165, 623 S.E.2d 870, 872 (Ct. App. 2005), *reh'g denied* (Jan. 19, 2006), citing *Hagood v. Sommerville*,

362 S.C. 191, 194-195, 607 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2005); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, -390; Rule 201(a), SCACR. “An order which does not finally end a case or prevent a final judgment from which a party may seek appellate review usually is considered an interlocutory order from which no immediate appeal is allowed.” *Hagood*, 362 S.C. at 195, 607 S.E.2d at 709 (citing *Tatnall v. Gardner*, 350 S.C. 135, 138, 564 S.E.2d 377, 379 (Ct. App. 2002)).

A. The Appeal Is Interlocutory, And The Absence Of A Remand Provision Is Immaterial.

The order on appeal in the instant case is not a final order and does not prevent a final judgment. It simply makes no difference, as Morrett contends, that the Full Commission Decision and Order did not contain a provision remanding the case back to the single commissioner. Instead, the Court must look to the nature the order and whether it disposes of all issues before the Commission. A “final judgment” is an order that must dispose of the whole subject matter of the action or terminate the action, leaving nothing to be done but to enforce what already has been determined. *Bone*, 404 S.C. at 75, 744 S.E.2d at 557 (internal citations and quotation omitted). Consistent with the holding of the supreme court in *Bone*, as well as the holding by this Court in *Long v. Sealed Air Corp.*, 391 S.C. 483, 706 S.E.2d 34 (Ct. App. 2011), the orders of the single commissioner and the appellate panel are limited to continuing treatment of Morrett’s right knee injury and the denial of her claim for psychological overlay. All other benefits to which Morrett may be entitled are not addressed in these orders, including whether Morrett has reached maximum medical improvement, the course of medical treatment that might be necessary to lessen the period of her disability, and whether she is entitled to any permanent disability compensation.

Since no final judgment has been rendered, this appeal should be dismissed as interlocutory and remanded to the Commission for further proceedings consistent with the orders of the single commissioner and the appellate panel. Pursuant the line of cases culminating in *Bone*, dismissal and remand will preserve judicial resources and prevent piecemeal appeal of the various issues presented (and not yet decided) in this case.

Morrett argues the Full Commission order is final and subject to immediate review because it did not remand the matter back to the single commissioner. (Response to Mot. to Dismiss, pp. 3-4) Her argument is a red herring because it completely ignores the procedural realities of this case and because it subverts the supreme court's clear holding in *Bone*. As the *Bone* Court noted, "a preliminary, procedural, or intermediate agency action or ruling is immediately reviewable if review of the final agency decision would not provide an adequate remedy [however, . . .] an adequate remedy [exists where the party] may raise the issue of compensability on appeal of a final award." *Bone*, 404 S.C. at 74, 744 S.E.2d at 556 (citing S.C. Code Ann. 1-23-380(A)).

Just as in *Bone*, where the issue of maximum medical improvement had not yet been addressed and no award had been made, the issues of whether Morrett has reached maximum medical improvement and whether she is entitled to any permanent disability award remain open. Since no final judgment has been rendered, this appeal should be dismissed as interlocutory and remanded to the Commission for further proceedings consistent with the orders of the single commissioner and the appellate panel. This is particularly true where Morrett may appeal the denial of compensation for aggravation of her psychological disorders once the Commission has made its final award. The holdings of *Bone* and related cases compel this result.

B. Failure To Apply *Bone* With Equal Force To All Parties Raises Equal Protection Concerns.

The court's analysis in *Bone* applies with equal force to the present case. Here, the order on appeal is not a final order for the same reasons that proved fatal to the appeal in *Bone*; to wit, the Commission has yet to decide the issues of maximum medical improvement and permanency. Furthermore, it is likely issues relating to ongoing medical treatment, temporary benefits, change of condition, and other potentially affected body parts will arise during the tenure of Morrett's workers' compensation claim. Permitting Morrett to pursue an immediate appeal of a non-final order, while employers and carriers have been denied the same opportunity, also raises the specter of violation of the Equal Protection Clauses of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions.

Morrett argues that if she cannot immediately challenge the Appellate Panel's determination that her work accident did not aggravate underlying psychological conditions that those conditions will continue to deteriorate. While that might be a valid concern, this Court is nevertheless bound to follow the clear mandate of *Bone*: an appeal in workers' compensation cases will not lie unless the order "settles the rights of the parties and disposes of all issues in controversy, except for the award of costs . . . and enforcement of the judgment." *Bone*, 404 S.C. at 78, 744 S.E.2d at 558-559 (quoting *Black's Law Dictionary* 919 (9th Ed. 2009)). The petitioners in *Bone* must wait until a final agency decision has been rendered - whenever that might be and whatever that might look like - before seeking appellate review. It is only fair and equitable that the inflexible standard announced in that decision be applied with equal force to employers and employees on the losing end of an intermediate Commission order.

Permitting employee appeals to proceed while restricting the ability of employers and carriers to seek immediate review of merits-determinative rulings violates the Equal Protection Clause of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions. See U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3. “The constitutional guarantee of equal protection of the laws requires that all persons be treated alike under like circumstances and conditions, both in privileges conferred and liabilities imposed.” *GTE Sprint Comm’n. Corp. v. Public Service Com.*, 288 S.C. 174, 181, 341 S.E.2d 126, 129 (1986) (citing *Marley v. Kirby*, 271 S.C. 122, 123-124, 245 S.E.2d 604, 605 (1978)). “The requirements of equal protection are satisfied if (1) the classification bears a reasonable relation to the purpose sought to be effected; (2) the members of the class are treated alike under similar circumstances and conditions; and (3) the classification rests on some reasonable basis.” *Id.* at 181, 341 S.E.2d at 130 (citing *State ex rel. Medlock v. S.C. State Family Farm Dev. Auth.*, 279 S.C. 316, 306 S.E.2d 605 (1983)).

To permit a claimant like Morrett to proceed on appeal because she might miss beneficial treatment while denying employers immediate review while they are required to pay benefits they will not be able to recoup if they ultimately prevail on appeal is unjust and unfair. It also would result in unequal application of S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 and afford claimants superior access to the appellate courts than that available to employers and carriers. Morrett should be denied immediate review because the Commission has yet to determine whether the claimant has reached maximum medical improvement, whether she is entitled to permanent disability benefits, and other issues that likely will arise. No final judgment has been rendered, and the Commission has not disposed of the entirety of the action. Permitting her to appeal the non-final order of the

Commission while requiring employers and carriers to await final judgment while they continue to pay benefits in disputed cases.

II. TO THE EXTENT THE AUGUST 28, 2012 DECISION AND ORDER IS SUBJECT TO IMMEDIATE REVIEW, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE DENIAL OF BENEFITS FOR AGGRAVATION OF APPELLANT'S PSYCHOLOGICAL CONDITION.

Even assuming, arguendo, that the August 28, 2012 Decision and Order of the Full Commission is subject to immediate review, which it is not, substantial record evidence supports the denial of benefits for Morrett's alleged aggravation of her psychological condition. This is especially true given the Appellate Panel, as the final arbiter of factual disputes among the parties, gave little if any weight to Morrett's experts and found Respondents' expert to be especially qualified to opine that her condition was the same before and after the admitted work-related injury in this case. In light of the substantial record evidence, it was appropriate for the Commission to determine that Morrett failed to satisfy her burden of proving aggravation of her psychological condition, and that ruling should be affirmed.

The South Carolina General Assembly has established parameters governing Morrett's claim. To that end, a claim for stress, mental injury, or mental illness alleged to have been aggravated by a work-related accident is not compensable unless the claimant establishes that the aggravation is:

- (1) admitted by the employer/carrier;
- (2) noted in a medical record of an authorized physician that, in the physician's opinion, the condition is at least in part causally-related or connected to the injury or accident, whether or not the physician refers the employee for treatment of the condition;
- (3) found to be causally-related or connected to the accident or injury after evaluation by an authorized psychologist or psychiatrist; or
- (4) noted in a medical record or report of the employee's physician as causally-related or connected to the injury or accident.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(D). In addition, “[t]he employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that: (1) the subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment; or (2) the preexisting condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent impairment.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35(A).

A. The Medical Records And Appellant’s Own Testimony Provide Ample Substantial Evidence To Support The Appellate Panel’s Denial Of Benefits For The Alleged Aggravation Of Appellant’s Psychological Condition.

The greater weight of the substantial evidence in this case supports the determination by the Full Commission that Morrett failed to meet her burden of proving an aggravation of her preexisting psychological condition and eating disorder. (R. p. 35, ¶ 8) Specifically, the Commission’s decision was driven by several factors, including: (1) Morrett’s extensive history of psychological treatment, both voluntary and involuntary, the last of which was just three months prior to her work injury; (2) she refused to participate in outpatient treatment and therapy and admitted continued purging even during her last inpatient treatment; (3) Morrett had “significant stressors” unrelated to her claim, including family problems, divorce, financial strain, school anxiety, and a history of sexual abuse; and (3) Morrett’s military service admittedly exacerbated her condition, leading to obsessive exercising, abuse of diet pills and energy drinks, increased dietary restrictions and purging, obsession with body image and weight, and increased weight loss. (R. pp. 35-36, ¶¶ 8-10) In light of the overwhelming record evidence supporting the Commission’s determination that Morrett’s work-related injury did not exacerbate her underlying disorders, this Court should affirm.

Morrett admitted her eating disorder and depression were ongoing psychiatric problems both before and after her accident. Going further, she testified she had relationship problems, both with her family and with members of the opposite sex, financial strain, and anxiety about school. (R. p. 205, line 18 - p. 206, line 24) Morrett refused inpatient treatment as recommended by her counselor and declined treatment with a dietician before and after her accident. (R. p. 206, lines 25-5) She admitted purging during her last week at the Ridgeview Institute and did not complete a recommended outpatient program. (R. p. 1338) She admitted to her counselor that she was still purging just seven weeks prior to the work-related accident.

While Morrett claims she had only one inpatient treatment for her condition since 2005, the medical records tell a more complete story. In fact, she refused additional medical treatment on April 18, 2007, May 1, 2007, June 20, 2007, July 17, 2007, February 25, 2008, and March 23, 2009. (R. pp. 336-337, 340, 342, 345, 349) She also terminated her counseling relationship with Hobbs in September 2007, when Hobbs noted Morrett was “just not ready to change and doesn’t feel ready to continue therapy.” (R. p. 344) Prior to joining the Air Force, Morrett’s bulimia was improving, and she was only purging every three to four weeks. (R. pp. 305, 315) After about a year of military service, however, Morrett was going to the gym six days a week for two hours a day, taking diet pills with energy drinks, obsessing about her weight and body image, restricting her diet, and purging two times a week. (R. p. 321) In early 2007, Morrett was purging daily, and by the end of 2008, she admitted her eating disorder symptoms increased when she was stationed in Washington, D.C. (R. pp. 324, 346) During her last appointment with Hobbs prior to her accident, Morrett admitted she was purging a lot and

was stressed about money. She also admitted being resistant to seeing a dietician. (R. p. 205, lines 18-21; p. 206, lines 10-23)

While the Full Commission Decision and Order does not address Morrett's credibility, it is nevertheless clear that it disagreed with the single commissioner's determination that she "testified accurately and in line with the medical and counseling records in this case." (R. p. 25, ¶ 9) Instead, the Full Commission correctly synthesized the medical records, the opinions and testimony of the experts identified by both sides, and, importantly, Morrett's own testimony and admissions relating to her underlying conditions to conclude that her "psychological condition and related behaviors have persisted because, up until this point, she has not had the adequate motivation to take advantage of the services that have been offered to her on numerous occasions." (R. p. 36, ¶ 11)

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